FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
9/18/2024 4:04 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/19/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. _____

Case #: 1034741

NO. 38726-7-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID PETTIS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

The Honorable Michael Price, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIN MOODY
Attorney for Petitioner
NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC
The Denny Building
2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250
Seattle, Washington 98121
206-623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. When the State moved to admit testimony by a law enforcement witness, under ER 1006, to provide a “summary” of social media communications, but this witness then gave a lengthy PowerPoint presentation titled, “Pathway to Premeditation,” in which he told the jury various messages were “significant in this trial” because they indicated Mr. Pettis was

an “insider threat” about to harm a loved one, did this testimony constitute an opinion on guilt and manifest constitutional error?

2. If this law enforcement “summary” testimony was not manifest constitutional error, were defense counsel ineffective insofar as they failed to object?

3. When the prosecutor elicited testimony from three witnesses, to the effect that Mr. Pettis’s own family suspected he was guilty, did this constitute manifest constitutional error?

4. If this family member suspicions testimony was not manifest constitutional error, was defense counsel ineffective for failing to object?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dave and Peggy Pettis married in 1985 and raised three children together. RP 281, 307-08, 944-45, 1034. Mrs. Pettis worked as a school bus driver; Mr. Pettis worked as a self-employed tow- and log-truck driver, school bus driver, and long-haul trucker. RP 284-85, 312. The couple also maintained a hog farm on their property. RP 339, 428-29, 449. By all accounts, the

Pettises had a loving marriage and a close-knit family. RP 308-09, 557, 1098-99.

Mrs. Pettis had been married previously, and she remained close with her former mother-in-law, Sylvia Edwards. RP 311, 961, 1034. Mrs. Pettis took care of Ms. Edwards for several years before Ms. Edwards died in 2014. RP 286-87, 311-12.

In September of 2014, shortly after Ms. Edwards died, the Pettises daughter, Elizabeth Culp, moved back in with her parents. RP 964. She lived there for two years. RP 964. Ms. Culp helped to care for Ms. Edwards. RP 661-62, 1037-38.

In 2016, Mrs. Pettis sustained a severe injury to her thigh when she was gored by a boar. RP 303, 314-15, 333-34, 395-96, 569-70, 1041-46. The injury left her with chronic pain, for which she took medication including hydrocodone. RP 314-15, 431-32, 465-66, 569-71, 1041-46.

Mr. Pettis was originally from upstate New York, where he was raised from birth to age 12 by a man named Bill Porter. RP

424. In May of 2017, Mr. Porter and his wife, Nancy, moved into the Pettis's home. RP 423-26.

In November of 2017, Mr. Pettis traveled to New York for a funeral and reconnected with an old girlfriend, Robin. RP 316-18, 436-37, 1107-14. Mr. Pettis developed romantic feelings for Robin, which he did not attempt to hide from his family, including Mrs. Pettis. RP 318, 437-38, 443-44, 1118-20; Ex. P-29 at 13:15:18 to 13:16:08, 13:42:15 to 13:42:33. Mr. Pettis visited Robin again in March of 2018. RP 1123-24. The two continued to communicate thereafter, and Mr. Pettis expressed love for Robin and sadness that Mrs. Pettis no longer seemed happy in their marriage. RP 684-85, 1131.

On Monday, June 25, 2018, Mr. Pettis called 911 and reported his wife was unconscious. RP 324, 340, 369-70; Ex. P-23. When paramedics arrived at the house, they found Mrs. Pettis unresponsive. RP 375. She was declared dead at the scene. RP 347, 386-87.

Spokane County Sheriff's Deputy Garrett Spencer spoke with Mr. Pettis shortly after Mrs. Pettis was declared dead. RP 384-87. Mr. Pettis told him that his wife had taken one 10 mg hydrocodone pill that evening, with at least one vodka-based beverage. RP 395-97.

Mr. Pettis also told Dep. Spencer that he and Mrs. Pettis had been in bed together that evening, but that Mr. Pettis had left the room when he could not fall asleep. RP 397-98. He said he went out to the living room, where he fell asleep watching television. RP 398. He told the deputy that he woke up at about 10:30 p.m., went into the bedroom, and found Mrs. Pettis face-down on the floor. RP 398.

Deputy Spencer asked Mr. Pettis where Mrs. Pettis kept her prescription medications, and Mr. Pettis showed him a lockbox. RP 400. The box had a prescription pill container with Mr. Pettis's name on it, which contained one hydrocodone pill; a Ziploc baggy containing seven 50-mg trazodone pills (an antidepressant); and a variety of loose pills. RP 400-03, 495. Mr. Pettis said he got the

trazodone pills from a friend at the Veteran's Administration. RP 402-03.

Deputy Spencer did not find any prescription containers with Mrs. Pettis's name on them, but he noted that Mr. Pettis kept all his prescriptions in the bathroom, separate from the lockbox. RP 405, 409. Mr. Pettis told the deputy that Mrs. Pettis had been in good health, having just passed an examination for a new life insurance policy. RP 412-13.

About two weeks after Mrs. Pettis's death, Detective Lyle Johnston and Detective Marc Melville interviewed Mr. Pettis at the Spokane County Sheriff's Office. RP 697; Ex. P-26. During that interview, Mr. Pettis told the detectives that he and Mrs. Pettis had suspected she had early-stage dementia. Ex. P-26 at 11:26:39 to 11:27:31. He also described the pain Mrs. Pettis had suffered since the boar injury, which increased over time, and said she treated it by taking both his and her own prescribed hydrocodone. Ex. P-26 at 11:33:06 to 11:19.

Mr. Pettis said his wife had been taking as many as three hydrocodone pills at a time, primarily on weekends during the schoolyear (because the district conducted random drug tests) and more frequently when school was out. Ex. P-26 at Ex. P-26 at 11:34:19 to 11:34:28, 11:35:23 to 11:35:47. He said she took them at night, crushed up in an alcoholic ice cream float. Ex. P-26 at 11:54:48 to 11:55:17. Mr. Pettis said his wife learned this approach from Ms. Edwards, who always crushed her pills. Ex. P-26 at 11:58:58 to 11:59:11.

When asked whether any of his own prescribed hydrocodone pills were missing, he told the detectives he did not know, because he did not like to take them and had not looked for any in a long time. Ex. P-26 at 11:42:53 to 11:43:08.

About two months after Mrs. Pettis's death, a preliminary toxicology showed her blood was positive for hydrocodone, trazodone, an antihistamine / sleep aid, and a muscle relaxant. RP 331, 472-77, 480, 495-96, 590-91. None of the substances were

present in toxic amounts except the hydrocodone, which was present at lethal levels. RP 496.

Based on the initial toxicology results, Det. Johnston obtained search warrants for the Pettises' Facebook and Instagram accounts, insurance records, and medical records. RP 590.

Mr. Pettis consented to a second interview, with Det. Johnston and Det. Kirk Keyser. Ex. P-29 at 12:45:11 to 12:45:58. Again, he told them Mrs. Pettis had struggled with chronic pain "almost 24 hours a day." Ex. P-29 at 12:50:06 to 12:50:39.

The detectives questioned Mr. Pettis at length about his relationship with Robin. He told them it was a source of difficulty in his marriage, and that it upset his daughter, but that he and Mrs. Pettis had worked through it. Ex. P-29 at 12:55:24 to 12:56:22, 13:41:09 to 13:46:03.

Mr. Pettis also told the detectives that he and his wife had consulted Mrs. Pettis's doctor about her memory loss, but that Mrs. Pettis was reluctant to explore the issue because "she didn't want the stigma." Ex. P-29 at 13:19:16 to 13:20:20.

When Det. Johnston suggested Mrs. Pettis had not been prescribed hydrocodone in sufficient amounts to sustain a three-pill per day habit, Mr. Pettis told them that Mrs. Pettis frequently took hydrocodone from Ms. Edwards's house. Ex. P-29 at 13:00:23 to 13:01:04.

Det. Johnston also suggested that Mr. Pettis had told "a couple of family members that [he] had crushed up the pills." Ex. P-29 at 13:09:01 to 13:09:05. Mr. Pettis repeatedly denied this, explaining that he made her ice cream drink on the night she died, but that she ground up her pills and gave them to him to put into the drink. Ex. P-29 at 13:09:06 to 13:09:17, 14:27:02 to 14:27:27; Ex. P-30 at 14:45:17 to 14:46:13.

Mr. Pettis said his wife had been taking hydrocodone since the 2016 boar injury, and he explained that only Ms. Culp was around enough to observe this like he did. Ex. P-29 at 13:28:10 to 13:28:53.

After more than an hour of increasingly hostile interrogation, during which the detectives told Mr. Pettis his wife

could have died only by suicide, accidental overdose, or because he murdered her, Mr. Pettis reluctantly acknowledged that Mrs. Pettis may have contemplated suicide, because she was in so much pain. Ex. P-29 at 14:18:57 to 14:21:50, 14:30:04 to 14:30:57; Ex. P-30 at 14:54:29 to 14:58:29. Again, he told the detectives that Mrs. Pettis had taken the hydrocodone in larger doses only on the weekends, to avoid detection by her work. Ex. P-29 at 14:34:42 to 14:35:20.

Charges and pretrial motions

On June 14, 2019, the State charged Mr. Pettis with first-degree premeditated murder. CP 1.

The court heard motions in limine in March of 2020. RP (Mar. 6, 2020) at 1-131. The defense moved to preclude “Any evidence or testimony that a witness believed a crime had occurred or that the defendant had committed a crime.” CP 19. Consistent with longstanding precedent, discussed below, the court granted this motion. CP 19.

The State moved to admit two categories of evidence through “summary”: financial records and cell phone and social media messages. RP (Mar. 6, 2020) at 90-93. The State proposed to admit the latter through witness Mark Voigtlaender, who would describe his “investigation” of those messages. RP (Mar. 6, 2020) at 92. In support of its motion, the State cited only ER 1006. CP 21-23.

On March 6, 2020, the parties agreed to “reserve” the issue of precisely what would be included in Mr. Voigtlaender’s summary, so the parties could attempt to agree. RP (Mar. 6, 2020) at 92-93. A written order to that effect was entered March 10, 2020. CP 21-23.

Almost immediately thereafter, the COVID-19 pandemic halted trial, and jury selection did not begin until November 30, 2021, almost three and a half years after Mrs. Pettis died. See RP (Mar. 10, 2020) at 22-60; RP 13.

The parties gave opening statements on December 2, 2021. RP 268, 272.

The State's circumstantial theory

The State's theory was that Mr. Pettis plotted his wife's murder so he could cash in on recently acquired life insurance policies, escape debt, and move to New York to pursue his relationship with Robin. RP 1301-03. But there were multiple problems with this theory.

Records showed that both Pettises had maintained multiple life insurance policies for over a decade prior to her death, and multiple witnesses testified that Mrs. Pettis was just as anxious as Mr. Pettis to obtain new policies in 2018. RP 538-41, 547-52, 793-809. Representatives for two companies that sold the Pettises policies in 2018, just before Mrs. Pettis's death, testified that neither policy was payable in the event of suicide, and that one policy did not cover accidental overdose. RP 810, 1075-78, 1080-81.

With respect to the couple's finances, it was undisputed that they made most of their annual income after the spring rainy season. RP 1047-49. Contrary to the State's argument, their lower

earnings right before Mrs. Pettis's death were not a recent crisis, they were consistent with the couple's longstanding financial pattern. RP 790-93.

The forensic pathologist who conducted Mrs. Pettis's autopsy testified that there was no way to know how many hydrocodone pills resulted in her lethal levels. RP 498. He explained that lethality can result from build-up over time, as opposed to one fatal dose, if a person ingests hydrocodone more often than every 3.5 to 4.1 hours. RP 500.

Medical records showed that both Mr. and Mrs. Pettis had been prescribed hydrocodone at various times since 2016. RP 869-71, 888-96, 906-07, 898, 900, 902, 905. Ms. Culp testified that her mother had taken hydrocodone from Ms. Edwards's house many times over the years, because Ms. Edwards was prescribed more than she used. RP 962-63, 1036-39. She also said her mother was private about her medications, but that Ms. Culp had observed Mrs. Pettis taking two hydrocodone pills at a time. RP 964-70.

Ms. Culp testified for the defense, but many of the State's own witnesses testified that Mrs. Pettis had seemed sad, stressed, and as if she were hiding something, during her final weeks. RP 331-32, 429-31, 436-38, 459, 578-81. The Pettises' son, David, opined that his mother was not suicidal, but he could not explain why he held that opinion. RP 331-32. To the contrary, he testified: "She put on a brave face and always tried to be smiling, but you could tell that there was always something underneath wrong . . . I'm not sure if it was physically or mentally." RP 332.

The State made much of the fact that Mr. Pettis allegedly told various family members, and Robin, that he had crushed the pills for Mrs. Pettis on the night she died. RP 1294-97. But this was very close to what Mr. Pettis told law enforcement: that Mrs. Pettis had crushed her pills and handed them to him to put into her ice cream float. Ex. P-29 at 13:09:06 to 13:09:17, 14:27:02 to 14:27:27; Ex. P-30 at 14:45:17 to 14:46:13. This nuance could easily have gotten lost in translation. In any event, had Mr. Pettis

poisoned his wife, it is not clear why he would tell numerous people about it.

Finally, it was undisputed that Mr. Pettis and Robin had engaged in some kind of affair, albeit mainly an emotional and long-distance one. See RP 1327. As detailed below, the State presented copious cell phone and social media records documenting Mr. Pettis's communications with Robin. RP 713-19; Ex. P-12 at slide 3. Some of these communications suggested Mr. Pettis had lied to Robin, and all these communications offend traditional, dearly held, notions of monogamy. There is no question this evidence prejudiced the jury against Mr. Pettis.

But it was a far leap from this prejudice to conclude that Mr. Pettis could commit murder, particularly when so much evidence (indeed, even the evidence of an affair) supported the defense theory that Mrs. Pettis overdosed because she was depressed and in chronic pain.

Improper opinion testimony

To bolster its circumstantial case, the State repeatedly elicited testimony, from Mr. Pettis's children and from Mr. Voigtlaender (a law enforcement witness), improperly opining on Mr. Pettis's guilt. It also elicited second-hand opinions, from other law enforcement witnesses, to the effect that the family had voiced these suspicions.

Mr. Pettis's son, David, testified for the State. Over defense counsel's objection to "speculation," the trial court allowed David to testify that he "came to believe that my dad had something to do with . . . my mother's death." RP 338.

The Pettises daughter, Ms. Culp, testified for the defense. The State twice attempted to impeach her by highlighting discrepancies between her testimony and her initial statements to law enforcement. Both times, the prosecutor questioned Ms. Culp at length regarding not only these discrepancies but also her family's "suspicions" that Mr. Pettis was guilty. RP 981-82, 984-85.

Det. Johnston testified that he became involved in the case when a friend of Mrs. Pettis's called law enforcement. RP 585-86.

At the prosecutor's prompting, he explained:

[A]t this particular point in time, I would say that there wasn't probable cause to believe that this was definitely an event of foul play, but it certainly was suspicious. The family members had raised some issues that made it appear suspicious and so it definitely deserved further investigation.

RP 588.

James Uttke, an investigator for the Spokane County Medical Examiner's Office, testified that he called Ms. Culp on June 28, 2018. RP 931-32. At the prosecutor's prompting, he agreed that "Ms. Culp ha[d] concerns," that he advised her to "file a police report with her concerns," and that he "did document her concerns." RP 932.

Finally, Mr. Voigtlaender testified that he used a special process of "aggregating and normalizing data," which allowed him to identify "normalcy and any aberrations," in phone and internet records, indicating "significant events." RP 715-17. Using a

PowerPoint to illustrate his findings, he said he identified “significant spots” in November of 2017 and January, March, and June of 2018. RP 718; Ex. P-12 at slide 2.

Mr. Voigtlaender began by highlighting for the jury various points at which Mr. Pettis communicated relatively frequently or infrequently, with Mrs. Pettis or Robin. RP 722-23; Ex. P-12 at slides 5, 7. As Mr. Voigtlaender provided this testimony, the State displayed a PowerPoint slide titled: “Timeframe of Events” and subtitled: “Pathway to Premeditation.” RP 717-18; Ex. P-12 at slide 2.

Mr. Voigtlaender then began reviewing individual messages for the jury, explaining why they were “significant.” RP 726-30.

Mr. Voigtlaender noted several messages from Mr. Pettis to Robin or others, indicating his romantic interest in Robin and his dissatisfaction with his marriage. RP 727-29; Ex. P-12 at slide 10. He told the jury that these messages were all “significant.” RP 726-30.

Mr. Voigtlaender then began discussing three Facebook messages sent from Mrs. Pettis's account to Robin's account, in March of 2018. RP 732; Ex. P-12 at slide 12-15. In these messages, the user of Mrs. Pettis's account expresses happiness that Mr. Pettis and Robin have reconnected, and that Mr. Pettis will have someone to love him if Mrs. Pettis is gone. Ex. P-12, slide 12; RP 733,

Mr. Voigtlaender explained that certain turns of phrase were statistically more associated with Mr. Pettis's communications than with Mrs. Pettis's, and he said his linguistic analysis led him to conclude that Mr. Pettis had authored the March messages. RP 827, 830.

Mr. Voigtlaender told the jury that these messages were "significant" because it is not normal for a wife to talk about sharing her husband. RP 733-36, 738-45; Ex. P-12 at slides 12-15. He also said they were significant because they "indicate[] a mental shift," from contemplating "sharing" to "expecting to be gone." RP 736-37.

Mr. Voigtlaender concluded his testimony by explaining that he learned his analytical techniques in the military, where he “supported a special operations group working multi-disciplined information . . . to analyze the data, to find quality of data, and analyze what was happening and be able to act on that data.” RP 821-22.

The trial court sustained an objection (to speculation) when Mr. Voigtlaender began to testify that messages sent on March 23, 2018, indicated Mr. Pettis “was in a mindset where - -” RP 831-32. The prosecutor promised to “rephrase and move on.” RP 832. Shortly thereafter, the court sustained a second objection, to “narration.” RP 833.

Between these two objections, the following exchange occurred:

Q Now . . . you mention transitions in three separate messages. Talk about why these - - what are these transitions and why are they of note?

A So one thing that’s . . . interesting that I’ve used in other investigative arenas . . . particularly, let’s look at counter-intelligence move: *When*

someone is an insider threat and decides to do harm to people that they have sworn to uphold or love, and that person then does something violent, we look at patterns of what changes, if there's something in the way they communicate that communicates where their mindset is, particularly if it's around a time stamp or time frame where there's a lot of emotional upheaval, are there phrases, are there indications of what that individual is looking at or what they're doing.

To me these three conversations, that - - the phraseology, the timing, the internet protocol addresses, and the type of conversation that was being committed at those times - - or that was being made on Peggy's account seem to fit a time where there was - - particularly with these phrases, the first message a wife was saying to a potential lover that I'm willing to share my husband with you. The second message was that when I'm gone, which is a transition from sharing to saying he's all yours. And then to the third one, if something happens. So that progression from those three messages, that looked to be from Dave, *became a significant item of potential consideration in this trial.*

Q Is it unusual for individuals to use those kind of phraseology, those kinds of transitions?

A I don't know if it's unusual or not. It was noteworthy in this because of what else was happening . . .

RP 832-33 (emphases added).

At the prosecutor's prompting, Mr. Voigtlaender then testified that "There's other . . . communications that we haven't talked about that make this interesting at this point." RP 834. He concluded by highlighting various messages indicating the affair or Mr. Pettis's communications about a life insurance policy, repeatedly calling these messages "significant," "noteworthy," or "interesting," but never saying why. RP 834-35, 844, 847-49; Ex. P-12 at slide 16.

After deliberating for almost two full days, the jury convicted Mr. Pettis as charged. RP 1349-56; CP 46. The court imposed a standard range term of 300 months, noting that it was "essentially a life sentence," given Mr. Pettis's age. RP 1396; CP 53.

Court of Appeals Decision

Mr. Pettis appealed, arguing the "insider threat" and family member suspicion testimony constituted impermissible opinions on guilt amounting to manifest constitutional error. Br. of App. at 48-69. In the alternative, he argued defense counsel were

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