FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/27/2025 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

### Supreme Court No. 10374-1 COA No. 38726-7-III

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

# DAVID LARUE PETTIS, Defendant/Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Spokane County Prosecuting Attorney

Gretchen E. Verhoef Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

## **

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

2. The Court of Appeals applied the proper test related to error preservation for alleged comments on guilt.

The Court of Appeals found Voigtlaender's "pathway to premeditation" slide was an impermissible comment on Pettis's guilt, but was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given the wealth of evidence detailed above. However, it found his unobjected-to "insider threat" language and associated testimony regarding the "noteworthiness" of certain electronic messages was not an "explicit or nearly explicit" comment and declined to review the error. Op. at 32-38. This was the proper analysis for review of unpreserved allegations that testimony offered an opinion on guilt.

Under RAP 2.5(a), a party may not raise a claim of error on appeal that was not first raised at trial unless, as relevant here, the claim involves a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. "[T]he constitutional error exception is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can 'identify a constitutional issue not litigated below." *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Manifest constitutional errors must have an effect on the trial that is "practical and identifiable," or "so obvious on the record" that it warrants review. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), *as corrected* (Jan. 21, 2010).

Where a defendant alleges testimony commented on his guilt but fails to object, this Court requires the alleged comment to be "an explicit or almost explicit statement [... about the witness's] personal opinion on the defendant's guilt." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 937, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (citations

omitted). Such a constitutional error must also cause actual prejudice or practical and identifiable consequences in the trial. *Id.* at 934-35. The Court of Appeals applied the proper standard in its decision below, Op. at 37-38, and Pettis gives this Court no basis from which to deviate from its precedent. *See State v. Otton*, 186 Wn.2d 673, 678, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016) (before this Court will abandon precedent, stare decisis requires a party demonstrate it is both incorrect and harmful).

Following *Kirkman*, this Court declined review of an unpreserved claim that *multiple law enforcement* witnesses gave opinions on guilt in *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 589, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). This Court characterized the law enforcement officers' opinions on Montgomery's guilt as "quite direct," using "explicit expressions of personal belief," and "troubling." *Id.* at 594-95. However, notwithstanding the *multiple* direct law enforcement opinions on Montgomery's

guilt, he was not entitled to relief on that basis <sup>10</sup> because he failed to object at trial and he failed to demonstrate actual prejudice. *Id*. at 594-96.

Reiterating the manifest error exception is a "narrow one," this Court declined review of the police officers' comments on Montgomery's guilt/criminal intent because (1) the jury was properly instructed that it was the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and was not bound by any expert's opinion, (2) there was no evidence the jury was unfairly influenced by the officers' comments, and (3) if Montgomery had objected, any prejudice could have been remedied by a curative instruction. *Id.* at 595-96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This Court reversed due to instructional error. 163 Wn.2d at 600.

a. Voigtlaender's "insider threat" testimony was not an explicit or nearly explicit comment on guilt and Pettis fails to demonstrate actual and substantial prejudice.

As in *Montgomery* and *Kirkman*, Pettis's jury was properly instructed they were the sole judges of the value and weight of testimony, the factors they should weigh in determining credibility, and that they need not accept an expert's opinion. CP 27-28, 35. Although Pettis argues Voigtlaender's testimony was "especially problematic" because he was affiliated with law enforcement and offered an opinion Pettis characterizes as "closing argument from the [witness] stand,"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> To be clear, the State has never disputed Voigtlaender's slide's subheading was improper. However, if *Montgomery*'s direct comments on guilt were not reviewable, it also cannot be said that a subheading on a single slide, briefly shown mid-trial, during a six-day, 40-witness trial, which was not verbalized by the witness or repeated by the State, and which was subject to the same proper instructions as in *Montgomery*, prejudiced Pettis such that the error should be reviewed. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals reviewed it, but found the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Pet. at 27, 29, neither this Court nor the attorneys now involved are positioned to determine whether Voigtlaender appeared credible to the jury, given that some of his opinion rested on common misspellings and references to fishing.

Although the dissent below would have held Voigtlaender's testimony directly dubbed Pettis an "insider threat" to Peggy, Dissent at 8, the majority did not find the testimony did so, instead characterizing the testimony as Voigtlaender drawing on his own professional experience, referring to a hypothetical person, and applying his training and experience to the data to explain why the jury should focus its attention on messages ostensibly sent by Peggy. Op. at 37. This is supported by Voigtlaender's testimony that the messages were items of "potential consideration" in the trial. RP 833. Voigtlaender did not testify with any certainty that the messages were, in fact, sent by Pettis. RP 832-33 (testifying the messages "looked to be from" Pettis). Peggy, characterized by the defense as a distraught, withdrawn, pain-ridden woman contemplating suicide, could also pose an "insider threat" and Voigtlaender's "transitions" testimony could have applied equally to her.

If *Montgomery*'s police officers' testimony directly commented on his guilt yet was nonetheless not manifest error, then Voigtlaender's less direct, unobjected-to "insider threat" testimony, seeking to explain why he analyzed certain text messages and not others, should likewise not be reviewed. Neither should his testimony that some messages were "interesting" or "significant." The term "significant" is generally used in statistical analysis, 12 the type of analysis Voigtlaender conducted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Reese v. Stroh, 128 Wn.2d 300, 307-10, 907 P.2d 282 (1995) (although an expert may express an opinion based on statistics, such a basis is not required; court erred by excluding expert's opinion on the basis that it was not supported by statistically significant studies).

In that regard, and to the extent that Pettis's petition seeks review of the bounds of ER 1006 in the age of electronic data, Pet. at 1, 30, Voigtlaender's analysis and expert qualifications are also not subject to review in this case.

In advance of trial, the State offered Voigtlaender would be called to summarize voluminous records, and the court heard the relevant motion in limine on March 6, 2020. CP 17; Peck RP at *passim*. At that time, the State indicated it would seek to reach an agreement with the defense about "whether the summary is admissible." Peck RP 92. Due to Covid-19, trial did not occur until late 2021, and it appears neither the court, nor the parties, readdressed the evidentiary bounds of ever Voigtlaender's testimony. Sidener RP 10; RP 713. The record is devoid of what agreement, if any, the parties reached.

The dissent's concern that Voigtlaender was not qualified as an expert is a potential evidentiary error under ER 702 and

Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C.Cir.1923). While an expert can never offer an opinion on a defendant's guilt, potential evidentiary errors in Voigtlaender's expert qualifications, methodology, and ER 1006 summary are not subject to review because they were not preserved.

Moreover, because there was no foundational objection to Voigtlaender's qualifications or methodology, this record is inadequate for review. It is purely speculation to presume Voigtlaender would not have been qualified as an expert if defense counsel had objected – or related to an ineffective assistance claim, to presume that counsel did not tactically withhold objection to Voigtlaender's known credentials to prevent the jury from hearing them. On a partial or incomplete record, this Court does not presume the existence of facts to which the record is silent for the purpose of finding reversible error. *See State v. Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 123-24, 271 P.3d 876

(2012). Thus, whether Voigtlaender's testimony exceeded a proper presentation of voluminous records under ER 1006 is subject to review only for constitutional error, not evidentiary error.

Pettis's petition does not demonstrate any of the RAP 13.4 criteria where the Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with this Court's jurisprudence requiring *both* an explicit or near explicit comment on guilt *and* actual prejudice before an unpreserved comment on guilt is reviewable. To the extent his constitutional claim intersects with claims of evidentiary error, this Court should decline review because those evidentiary errors are unpreserved, and the record is insufficient for review.

b. The related ineffective assistance claim does not present an issue that should be reviewed under RAP 13.4.

Associated with these claims are a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, which requires Pettis to demonstrate counsel performed deficiently – by failing to object for no

reasonable tactical purpose – to his detriment. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 937-38; *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004). As above, it is debatable whether Voigtlaender's "insider threat" testimony was inadmissible or a comment on Pettis's guilt. If the testimony was admissible, no objection would have succeeded. *See State v. Vasquez*, 198 Wn.2d 239, 248-49, 494 P.3d 424 (2021).

Further, there was a clear strategic reason for counsel's decision against objecting. Voigtlaender conceded he did not review all 100,000 lines of data and did not review Peggy's messages for the same misspellings he noted in Pettis's; he admitted that he could not testify whether the "transitions" were unusual; and he curiously did not discuss the specifics of any of Pettis's post-March 2018 messages, even though some of those messages were highly probative. Defense counsel's closing argument used those deficiencies in his testimony to argue the

State was "using smoke to try to prove a fire. The state went to great lengths to go through all those messages and to show you a handful of unsavory messages." RP 1328-29. Counsel's failure to object was likely attributable to his strategic decision that Voigtlaender's testimony was less-than-convincing and supported the defense theory that "smoke does not equate to fire." The ineffective assistance of counsel claim does not present an issue meriting review under RAP 13.4.

c. Pettis's family members did not give "explicit or nearly explicit" opinions on his guilt.

David testified he had "concerns" about his mother's death and "came to believe" his father "had something to do with [his] mother's death"; despite expressing that belief, he immediately testified he did not know whether his mother voluntarily ingested the lethal hydrocodone. RP 337-39. Culp testified her mother's family had "suspicions" or "concerns" about Peggy's death, which caused her to have "curiosities," prompting her to call the

medical examiner to ask what a family should do about their "concerns." RP 981-82. However, despite the family's "concerns," Pettis did nothing to raise Culp's suspicions and Culp offered her belief that the boar injury and her mother's hydrocodone use were the reason people "don't believe [Pettis] loved [her] mom." RP 981-82, 1041. None of this testimony was objected to.

The Court of Appeals employed the proper analysis, set forth above, to decide whether these statements were "explicit or almost explicit" comments on Pettis's guilt. Op. at 39-40, 45.

Pettis relies on *State v. Fedoruk*, 184 Wn. App. 886, 890, 339 P.3d 233 (2014), and *State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn. App. 924, 927-28, 219 P.3d 958 (2009), to assert the opinion conflicts with published decisions of the Court of Appeals. But the court's decision finding David's testimony was an explicit or nearly explicit comment on guilt, yet was nonetheless harmless beyond

a reasonable doubt, and Culp's testimony was not manifest error, does not conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals.

In *Johnson*, the defendant was tried for child molestation, a charge often unsupported by corroborating evidence. At trial, the prosecution repeatedly elicited testimony detailing that Johnson's wife, when confronted with proof of the accusations, broke down into tears, "flipped out," apologized to the victims' family, acknowledged that the allegations "must be true" and the victim "was right," and then attempted suicide. 152 Wn. App. at 928-29, 932-33. The appellate court found manifest constitutional error and reversed, concluding the wife's opinion on the child's veracity served no purpose beyond prejudicing the jury. *Id.* at 934.

Fedoruk involved multiple instances of prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument, not manifest constitutional

error during a witness's testimony; the prosecutor's closing argument presented an "appeal to the intuition" of Fedoruk's family members, whose testimony, apparently not assigned as error on appeal, indicated an immediate suspicion that Fedoruk was involved in the victim's disappearance. 184 Wn. App. at 878, 890. Notably, the court was not tasked with deciding whether the family members' testimony was manifest error, because prosecutorial misconduct, not a witness's opinion on guilt, was the issue raised on appeal. *Id*.

Pettis's case is materially different. A family's vague "concerns" with their mother's death does not suggest, let alone overtly present an opinion that Pettis was guilty of murder. Pettis's family's "concerns" do not carry the same emotional impact as Johnson's wife's reaction to allegations that he was involved in a child sexual assault and her belief in the credibility of the victim's statements. David refused to speculate whether

his mother intentionally ingested the lethal dose of hydrocodone, and his vague "concerns" regarding his father's involvement could suggest he thought Pettis may have crushed the pills and Peggy voluntarily consumed them; such an opinion does not explicitly or nearly explicitly suggest his belief that Pettis was guilty of murder. The family's other general "concerns" could even suggest Pettis's attraction to another woman led to Peggy's suicide. These statements, considering the witnesses' testimony as a whole, did not explicitly or nearly explicitly convey the family's opinion that Pettis killed Peggy such that the error is manifest and reviewable absent objection. Further, the Montgomery analysis also applies to these statements, and proper instructions and lack of any indication the jury was improperly influenced (such as the prosecutor repeating the statements during closing), indicate any error did not cause actual and substantial prejudice.

## VII. CONCLUSION

Pettis's petition does not present this Court with any issue that was not addressed by *Kirkman* or *Montgomery* and does not demonstrate the opinion below conflicts with any opinion of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. The analysis for unpreserved claims that a witness has commented on a defendant's guilt are well-established, and the Court of Appeals properly applied that analysis. Because no objection was raised below to Voigtlaender's qualifications or methodology, any purely evidentiary issue is likewise unpreserved. Respondent requests the Court deny the petitioner's request for review.

This document contains 6,553 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.